

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

This thesis in electronic version is provided to the Library by the author. In the case where its contents is different from the printed version, the printed version shall prevail.

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Department of Electronic & Information Engineering

Peak-to-Average Power Ratio (PAPR) Reduction Using OFDM Null Subcarriers

WANG, Bo

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Philosophy

January 2011

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

(Signed) WANG, Bo (Name of Student)

Abstract

The proposed schemes reduce the peak-to-average power ratio (PAPR) of multi-carrier transmission, by exploiting null subcarriers, already mandated in most OFDM wireless standards. The dissertation has two distinct but related components, which are briefly summarized as below.

(1) OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers and Data-Subcarriers.

This new approach requires no channel-side information (CSI), imposes no rate hit, is distortionless, can complement most other PAPR reduction methods (such as tone injection, tone reservation, active constellation extension, partial transmit sequences), and can be compatible with existing standards. This work has already been published in K. T. Wong, **Bo Wang** & J. C. Chen, "OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers and Data-Subcarriers," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 62-63, January 6, 2011.

(2) OFDM PAPR Reduction by Shifting Null Subcarriers among Data-Subcarriers

This new method has low computational complexity, is distortionless, has better symbol error rate (SER) performance, requires less channel-side information (CSI), can complement most other PAPR reduction methods (such as partial transmit sequences, selective mapping, tone injection, trellis shaping, active constellation extension), and also can be compatible with existing standards.

Publications

 K. T. Wong, **Bo WANG** & Jung-Chieh CHEN, "OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers and Data-Subcarriers," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 62-63, January 6, 2011.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my beloved family for their spiritual and financial support throughout my student career.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Kainam Thomas WONG, for his guidance and great help during the past 1.6 years, including guiding my simulation studies, proposing this research topic, doing the literature search, thinking up the algorithm and writing manuscript in chapter II, thinking up the CSI-free predecessor of the algorithm in Chapter III (but not the with-CSI version in Chapter III), and also his recommendation for my Ph.D. application.

I would like to thank Prof. Jung-Chieh CHEN for supplying MATLAB codes of other existing PAPR reduction methods at the beginning of our research, giving suggestions on our MATLAB codes, brainstorming in designing the algorithm, and helping with the manuscript preparation of our published paper.

I would like to thank Prof. Chao-Kai WEN for advising us on null-subcarrier placement in various industry standards, brainstorming in designing the algorithm, and alerting us on the existence of the spectral mask.

I would like to thank Mr. Yang SONG for his useful help in debugging MATLAB codes at the beginning of my research.

I would like to thank Mr. Xin YUAN for his kind suggestions in my M.Phil. study.

I also would like to thank other research collaborators for their help to my research and study.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	8		
	1.1	The Motivation & Significance of the Investigation	8		
	1.2	Literature Review	10		
		1.2.1 Various PAPR-Reduction Strategies	12		
		1.2.2 Criteria to Compare Among Various Schemes	15		
	1.3	Mathematical Formulation of the Problem	16		
	1.4	Contributions of This Work	18		
2 OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers and Data-Subcarrier					
	2.1	Null Subcarriers in OFDM	19		
	2.2	Proposed Method's Underlying Philosophy	20		
	2.3	Advantage of Proposed Scheme	20		
	2.4	The Proposed Algorithm	21		
	2.5	Simulation Results	22		
	2.6	Summary	24		
3 OFDM PAPR Reduction by Shifting Null Subcarriers among Data-					
	Sub	carriers	25		
	3.1	The Basic Idea of Proposed Method	25		
	3.2	Advantages of the Proposed Method	25		
	3.3	The Proposed Algorithm	26		
		3.3.1 The Basic Version	26		
		3.3.2 A Reduced-Complexity Version	26		
	3.4	Simulation Results	27		
	3.5	Summary	30		
4	Cor	nclusion	31		
Bi	Bibliography				

List of Figures

1.1	A block diagram of the SLM technique [25]	13
1.2	A block diagram of the PTS technique [25]	13
2.1	Spectral Mask	19
2.2	The PAPR's CCDF at $P = 1. \dots $	22
2.3	The PAPR's CCDF at $P = 2$	23
2.4	The SER versus the signal to noise ratio at $A = 1.7.$	23
2.5	The BER versus the signal to noise ratio at $A = 1.7.$	24
3.1	The PAPR's CCDF at $P = 2$	27
3.2	The SER versus the signal to noise ratio at $P = 2$	28
3.3	The PAPR's CCDF at $P = 2, V = 8$, QPSK modulation, 4 phase factors.	28

List of Tables

1.1	Comparison of various methods	15
3.1	Comparison of Null Switching, Null Shifting and "Reduced-Complexity"	
	Null Shifting (P=2,V=8,IEEE 802.11a standard)	29

Chapter 1

Introduction

This dissertation presents much of the candidate student's research work during his past 1.6 years of study. The contents in this dissertation include two related research projects on Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction for OFDM, among which one have been published in IET journals, another one has been submitted to IEEE conference for peer-review.

1.1 The Motivation & Significance of the Investigation

Orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) as an attractive multicarrier transmission technology for wireless and wire line, provides greater bandwidth efficiently, immunity to multi-path fading and impulse noise, resistance to frequency selective fading, and also exempts the need for complex equalizers and digital signal-processor hardware implementation.

In OFDM system, by using of a discrete Fourier transform, the available bandwidth is spited into many subcarriers, which are carefully designed to keep each subcarrier orthogonal to other subcarriers to achieve bandwidth efficiency. Besides, a signal data stream is transmitted simultaneously by employing a number of low rate subcarriers, so that high data rate transmission is achieved. Since the symbol duration increases for the low data rate subcarrier, the relative amount of dispersion in time caused by multi-path delay is declined. International standards, like IEEE 802.11, IEEE 802.15, IEEE 802.16, IEEE 802.20, European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) Broadcast Radio Access Network (BRAN) committees, and 3G Long Term Revolution (LTE), adopting OFDM for high-speed wireless communications are already established or being established.

Nevertheless, some challenging issues remain unresolved in designing the OFDM systems. One of the major drawbacks is a possibly high instantaneous Peak-to-Average Power Ratio (PAPR) of transmitted OFDM signals. The OFDM signal, which superposes many individual sinusoidal subcarriers, would have a high amplitude when these sinusoids are in-phase at the IFFT input, and are thus added constructively to generate a large amplitude corresponding to a high PAPR at the IFFT output. The peak amplitude of OFDM signal could be N times that of a single-carrier system, where N denotes the number of carriers. When the peak amplitudes of OFDM signals with high PAPR reach or exceed the saturation region of Power Amplifier at the transmitter and a Low Noise Amplifier at the receiver, the OFDM signals will suffer from nonlinear distortion, spectrum spreading, in-band distortion and inter-modulation interference across the OFDM subcarriers. All these demote the bit-error-rate (BER) at the receiver. One simple solution is to use expensive power-amplifiers with large saturation region. However, as high peak amplitudes occur irregularly, these power-amplifiers would be inefficient. Besides, high peaks are also constrained by design-factors such as cost and battery power of electronics.

1.2 Literature Review

Different theoretics and hypotheses on determination of the PAPR distribution have been reported. And various schemes exist to reduce the PAPR. Various schemes could be categorized into "signal-distortion" schemes or "signal-scrambling" schemes. These techniques achieve PAPR reduction at the expense of transmit signal power increase, BER increase, data-rate loss, computational complexity increase, distortion, channel side information.

The "signal-distortion" schemes reduce high peaks by distorting the signal prior to amplification. Specific approaches include amplitude-clipping, filtering, and μ -law companding. However, "signal-distortion" schemes could cause large in-band and out-of-band noise, resulting in system performance degradation. For example, clipping [1] is computationally simple, but may cause both in-band distortion like self-interference and out-band radiation like nonlinear-distortion into OFDM signals. Besides, receiver needs to estimate two parameters of the transmitter's clipping operator: location and size, which are difficult to get.

The "signal-scrambling" techniques scramble each OFDM symbol with different scrambling sequences for the PAPR reduction. Specific approaches include partial transmit sequence (PTS) and PTS using adaptive nonlinear estimator, selective mapping, low complexity phase weighting, block coding based on Golay sequences, excess power-reduction coding, interleaving, active constellation extension, tone reservation, tone injection, and selective mapping of partial tones. In [2] [3], these various techniques are reviewed and analyzed. In [4], the authors specifically contrast "tone reservation" scheme against "adaptive constellation extension" (ACE) scheme, in terms of their "field programmable gate arrays" (FPGA) implementation. In [5], the "selected mapping" (SLM) approach and "partial transmit sequence" (PTS) scheme for PAPR reduction are specifically contrasted against each other.

Efficient schemes with explicit channel side-information (CSI) transmission have been devised in e.g. [6] [7]. Side-information embedding, i.e. side-information is not explicitly transmitted via dedicated OFDM subcarriers, has been proposed in the form of differential encoding [8] [9], marking of subcarriers [10] [6], and choosing PTS vectors from special codebooks [11]. Some of the disadvantages of these methods are peak re-growth [10] [6], increased redundancy [8] [9], inapplicability to general search algorithms [10] [6] [11], and increased detection complexity [10] [6] [11].

Meanwhile, other PAPR reduction techniques that eliminate the need of CSI are also introduced. In one of these techniques[12] [13], some of the carriers are not used for data transmission, but for PAPR reduction. However, these techniques reduce the throughput. Other technique that does not need side information uses coding technique [14]. For example, in [15], symbols switching techniques that are decoded by using an LDPC code are introduced. Nevertheless, these techniques introduce a large BER degradation. Tone reservation and Tone injection [16] are based on adding an appropriate time domain signal to the original OFDM signal to reduce PAPR without needing Channel Side Information (CSI). Tone reservation scheme is to choose the frequency-domain reserved-subcarriers as cancellation signal such that it minimizes the PAPR. At the receiver, the tone-reserved subcarriers can be discarded at the receiver without CSI. TR is computationally simple, but might violate some standards. Tone injection requires much complexity at the transmitter by substituting a point in the basic constellation for a new point in the extended constellation, thus wont be adopted on the handset uplink.

Several PAPR reduction techniques based on PTS or SLM schemes without need of side information are also proposed. Alavi [17] derives a simplified maximum likelihood (ML) decoder for SLM and PTS that operates without side information. The proposed SLM and PTS systems neither lose throughput due to side information nor degrade bit error rate (BER) due to errors in side information. However, a reduction in throughput occurs due to the pilot tones used for channel estimation (CE). Some increase in the receiver complexity is the price paid for these benefits. Giannopoulos [18] proposes a new lowcomplexity technique for retrieving the weighting factors in the receiver. The proposed decoder requires no additional pilot tones or explicit transmission of side information, therefore no data rate loss is implied. Furthermore this paper presents a digitally very large scale integration implementation of the proposed PTS decoder and demonstrates its low-power properties. Fujii [19] proposes 2 weighting factor estimation (WFE) methods for the receiver to estimate the phase-offsets with no CSI.

In [20], several different PAPR reduction techniques are examined specifically for implementation of multi-giga-bit-per-second 60GHz wireless CMOS Radio. Moreover, it concludes that clipping and partial transmit sequence (PTS) are more practical than other techniques for implementation of multi-giga-bit-per-second 60 GHz wireless communication systems.

1.2.1 Various PAPR-Reduction Strategies

(1) Clipping, Filtering and Peak Window

Power amplifier at transmitter with saturation level below the signal span automatically cause the signal to be clipped [1]. Receiver needs to estimate two parameters of the transmitter's clipping operator: location and size, which are difficult to get. However, clipping introduces both in-band distortion like self-interference and outband radiation like nonlinear-distortion into OFDM signals, which degrades system's BER and spectral efficiency.

As improved clipping methods, peak windowing schemes minimize out-band radiation by using narrowband windows such as Gaussian window to attenuate peak signals. Filtering can reduce out of band radiation after clipping [21] [22]. Besides, clipping may cause some peak re-growth so that the signal after clipping will exceed the clipping level at some points. To reduce peak re-growth, a repeated clipping-andfiltering operation can be used to obtain a desirable PAPR at a cost of increasing computational complexity.

(2) Selected Mapping

In the SLM technique [23] [24], the transmitter generates a set of sufficiently different candidate data blocks by multiplying the same number of different phase sequences, all representing the same information as the original data block. And the one with the lowest PAPR is selected for transmission. Information about the selected phase sequence should be transmitted to the receiver as side information.

The SLM-OFDM transmitter is depicted as the Figure 1.1, where one of the alternative subcarrier vectors can be the unchanged original one. Differentially encoded modulation may be applied before the IDFT and right after generating the alternative OFDM symbols. At the receiver, differential demodulation has to be implemented right after the DFT.

(3) Partial Transmit Sequence

The transmitter constructs its transmit signal with low PAPR by scrambling appropriate rotation factors to subcarrier subblocks [26] [27].

The difference between SLM and PTS is that the first applies independent scrambling rotations to all subcarriers, while the latter only applies scrambling rotations to subcarrier subblocks. The PTS-OFDM transmitter is depicted in the Figure 1.2 with the hint that one PTS can always be left unrotated.

(4) Interleaving technique

In interleaving approach [28] [29] [30], a set of interleavers is used to reduce the PAPR of the multicarrier signal. An interleaver is a device that reorders data blocks. To make a set of modified data blocks, different interleavers are used to permute data blocks from the original data block. And the modified data block with the lowest



Figure 1.1: A block diagram of the SLM technique [25].



Figure 1.2: A block diagram of the PTS technique [25].

PAPR is then chosen for transmission. To recover the original data block, the receiver need only know which interleaver is used at the transmitter.

(5) Tone Reservation

TR scheme [16] is to choose the frequency-domain reserved-subcarriers as cancellation signal such that it minimizes the PAPR of TR transmitted signal.

At the receiver, symbol is demodulated in the frequency domain on a tone-by-tone basis, so the tone-reserved subcarriers can be discarded at the receiver, thus distortionless.

(6) Tone Injection

The basic idea of tone injection is to increase the constellation size so that the same data point can be mapped into multiple possible points in the expanded constellation [16]. And substituting a point in the basic constellation for a new point in the extended constellation for PAPR reduction is equivalent to injecting a tone with appropriate frequency and phase in the original signal.

At the receiver, TI does not require the extra side information, but only needs to know how to map the redundant constellations on the original one. However, comparing with TR technique, the TI technique injected signal by occupying the same frequency band as the information bearing signal, and also increases the transmitted signal's power.

(7) Active Constellation Extension

In this technique, some of the outer signal constellation points of the data block are dynamically extended toward the outside of the original constellation so that the PAPR of the data block is reduced [31]. The ACE approach can be applied to many kinds of constellation schemes with large constellation size, such as QAM, MPSK and QPSK, in which data points that lie on the outer boundaries of the constellations have room for increased margin without increasing the error probability for other data symbols. Furthermore, there is no need for data rate hit and channel side information. However, these modifications result in a power increase in the transmitted signal.

(8) Coding

Coding methods are used to reduce the PAPR by selecting appropriate codewords for transmission. For example, Block coding [14] is based on Golay sequences [32] (with dual capabilities of error correction and peak reduction), where the data sequence is embedded in a larger sequence and only those larger sequences with low peak powers are used. The data is encoded using a block code. In order to reduce the PAPR, a different sequence is transmitted where some of the data symbols are replaced by others, instead of transmitting the data symbol sequence corresponding to the codeword. The errors that are deliberately introduced could be corrected by the error correcting code. Hence, part of the error correcting capability of the code is sacrificed to PAPR reduction.

1.2.2 Criteria to Compare Among Various Schemes

Various methods need be compared and contrasted by these criteria:

- (a) the PAPR reduction achieved.
- (b) computational complexity at the transmitter.
- (c) computational complexity at the receiver.
- (d) the amount of channel side information (CSI) required to be communicated from the transmitter to the receiver.
- (e) any need by the transmitter for any prior information.
- (f) required/possible synergy/combination with other PAPR-reduction techniques?

Table 1.1 compare different methods based on the criteria discussed above.

Method	PAPR reduction	Distortion	Rate hit	CSI	Complexity
Clipping	High	Yes	Low	No	Low
PTS	Moderate	No	Low-High	Yes	Low-High
SLM	Moderate	No	Low-High	Yes	Low-High
ACE	Low	No	Low	No	High
Constellation shaping	High	No	High	No	High
Trellis shaping (TS)	Moderate	No	Low-High	No	High
Tone injection (TI)	Moderate	No	High	No	Low-High
Balancing	Moderate	No	High	No	Low
Coding	High	No	High	No	High

Table 1.1: Comparison of various methods

1.3 Mathematical Formulation of the Problem

Consider OFDM transmission with L subcarriers at the frequencies $\{f_{\ell}, \ell = 1, \dots, L\}$, indexed by the set S = Label the set $\{\ell = 1, \dots, L\}$. Of these, N are null subcarriers, with distinct indices drawn from the ascending set $\mathcal{N} = \{g_n, n = 1, \dots, N\} \subset S$. These N null-subcarriers respectively occupy the frequencies $\{f_{g_n}, n = 1, \dots, N\}$, ordered in ascending frequency. The remaining L - N subcarriers serve as data-subcarriers, with distinct indices from the ascending set $\mathcal{D} = \{h_d, d = 1, \dots, L - N\} \subset S$. These L - Ndata-subcarriers respectively occupy the frequencies, $\{f_{h_d}, d = 1, \dots, L - N\}$, ordered in ascending frequency. Obviously, $\mathcal{N} \cup \mathcal{D} = S$, and $f_{g_n} \neq f_{h_d}, \forall n, d$.

Assigned to the data-subcarriers at $\{f_{h_d}, 1 \leq d \leq L - N\}$ respectively are the *M*-ary data symbols $\{\bar{x}_d, d = 1, \dots, L - N\}$, taken from any phase-modulated and/or amplitude-modulated constellation.

Let T be the modulation interval and LT be the duration of the OFDM symbol (excluding the guard interval). The OFDM-signal's complex envelope equals

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{d=1}^{D} \bar{x}_{h_d} e^{j2\pi f_{h_d} t}, \quad 0 \le t \le LT.$$

Assumed above is an idealized rectangular time-domain window. The subsequent cyclicprefix extension of x(t) would not alter the peak-amplitude.

The peak-to-average power ratio (PAPR) of the continuous-time signal x(t) is defined as

$$\zeta^{c}(x(t)) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{\max_{0 \le t < LT} \{|x(t)|^{2}\}}{\int_{t=0}^{LT} |x(t)|^{2} dt}$$

For numerical calculations, the above continuous-time definition may be approximated in discrete time as

$$x_k \triangleq x\left(\frac{kT}{K}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{d=1}^{D} \bar{x}_{h_d} e^{j\frac{2\pi}{KL}f_{h_d}}, 0 \le k \le LT$$

where K represents the oversampling factor, which is recommended to be 4 by [36] but to be 8 by [37].

Then, we introduce the complementary cumulative density function (CCDF) of the PAPR. For large L, x_k become Gaussian distributed, each with a mean of zero and a variance 0.5. And amplitude of the OFDM signal has a Rayleigh distribution with power distribution becomes a central chi-square distribution given by

$$F(\zeta_0) = 1 - \exp(-\zeta_0)$$
 (1.1)

Complementary Cumulative distribution function (CCDF, signal samples mutually uncorrelated when non-oversampling) is given by

$$P(\zeta > \zeta_0) = 1 - P(\zeta \le \zeta_0) = 1 - F(\zeta_0)^N$$

= 1 - (1 - exp(-\zeta_0))^N (1.2)

CCDF of the OFDM signal with K as oversampling factor, approximately given by is derived as

$$P(\zeta > \zeta_0) = 1 - P(\zeta \le \zeta_0) = 1 - F(\zeta_0)^{KN}$$

= 1 - (1 - exp(-\zeta_0))^{KN} (1.3)

where ζ_0 denotes the given threshold. This expression assumes that the N time domain signal samples are mutually independent and uncorrelated.

1.4 Contributions of This Work

Listed below are the main contributions of my work presented in this thesis.

- (1) In Chapter 2, a new PAPR reduction method of multi-carrier transmission system, called "Null-Switching" method, is proposed. This new approach requires no channel-side information (CSI), imposes no rate hit, is distortionless, can complement most other PAPR reduction methods (such as tone injection, tone reservation, active constellation extension, partial transmit sequences), and can be compatible with existing standards.
- (2) In Chapter 3, another new PAPR reduction method of OFDM multi-carrier system, called "Null-Shifting" method is presented. Comparing with the "Null-Switching" method introduced in chapter 2, this method has low computational complexity and better symbol error rate (SER) performance. Also this proposed method is distortionless, requires less channel-side information (CSI), can complement most other PAPR reduction methods (such as partial transmit sequences, selective mapping, tone injection, trellis shaping, active constellation extension), and also can be compatible with existing standards.

Chapter 2

OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers and Data-Subcarriers

2.1 Null Subcarriers in OFDM

Inherent in many multi-carrier standards are null-subcarriers (a.k.a., virtual / unused /unmodulated subcarriers), where no energy is transmitted.

For example, in the IEEE 802.11a/g standard (i)6 null-subcarriers serve as guard-band at the low-frequency end and 5 null-subcarriers serve at the high-frequency end as guardbands. (ii)A mid-band null subcarrier (indexed 0) for accommodating low cost RF-filters that avoids delay of DC energy.

In the IEEE 802.11a/g standard, using some of the "innermost" null subcarriers in the guard-band is sometimes tolerable because the spectral mask has its transition-band over those null subcarriers, thereby passing a good portion of the energy in these "innermost" null subcarriers as shown in Figure 2.1. See [33] for inclusion of null-subcarriers. See [34] for sub-blocking strategies.



Figure 2.1: Spectral Mask

2.2 Proposed Method's Underlying Philosophy

This proposed scheme switches one or more null-subcarriers with to be identified datasubcarrier(s). This changes the input to the IFFT operator, and thus the IFFT operators output and its PAPR.

The guard-bands of many multi-carrier standards (e.g.IEEE 802.11a/g) have nullsubcarriers in the transition-band of the transmit spectrum mask (i.e. the bandpass filter matched to the desired users data-subcarriers). Hence, such a null-subcarrier frequency (now switched to carry data) can pass a good portion of any energy therein onto the receiver.

For the above switching, the transmitter is to search for the data-subcarrier that (when switched with a null-subcarrier) would achieve the greatest PAPR-reduction.

2.3 Advantage of Proposed Scheme

This proposed scheme requires no channel side information (CSI) from the transmitter to the receiver, unlike some other PAPR-reduction approaches, such as selective mapping (SLM) and partial transmit sequences (PTS). Such channel side information would reduce the data-rate, and could significantly increase the bit error rate (if the channel side information is corrupted in transmission). This scheme does not distort the transmitted signal, unlike clipping. It also imposes no "rate hit", as the constellation remains unchanged at each data-subcarrier, unlike any coding-based PAPR-reduction method. The scheme is versatile, as it may be used simultaneously with any constellation-modifying PAPR-reduction scheme, such as active constellation extension, constellation shaping, partial transmit sequences (PTS), selective mapping (SLM), tone injection, trellis shaping. The proposed scheme is not a degenerate case of any constellation-modifying PAPRreduction scheme, because the proposed scheme does not affect the constellation at the data-subcarriers. The proposed scheme may be used simultaneously with other PAPRreduction methods that enlarge/contract/alter the group of data-subcarriers, such as tone reservation (also known as peak-reduction carrier).

2.4 The Proposed Algorithm

Without modifying L or N specified in the given OFDM-system, the proposed method switches P number of null subcarriers (i.e. P elements in $\{\tilde{g}_p, p = 1, \dots, P\} \subset \mathcal{N} =$ $\{g_n, n = 1, \dots, N\}$) with P number of data-subcarriers (i.e. P members of $\{\tilde{h}_p, p =$ $1, \dots, P\} \subset \mathcal{D} = \{h_d, d = 1, \dots, L - N\}$), such that if $f_{\tilde{h}_p} < f_{\tilde{h}_{p+1}}$, then $f_{\tilde{g}_p} < f_{\tilde{g}_{p+1}}$.

With L, P, N specified, there exist altogether $\left(L - N\right) = \frac{(L-N)!}{P!(L-N-P)!}$ number of different "switching" possibilities. The optimization problem aims to identify which $\{\tilde{h}_p, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ from $\{h_d, d = 1, \dots, L-N\}$.

The above constraint (i.e. if $f_{\tilde{h}_p} < f_{\tilde{h}_{p+1}}$, then $f_{\tilde{g}_p} < f_{\tilde{g}_{p+1}}$) allows no channel sideinformation be transmitted, because: (i) The receiver has priori knowledge of \mathcal{D} . (ii) The received data allow the identification of $\{\tilde{h}_p, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ on account of their low power-levels. (iii) The permutation of the P switched data-subcarriers remain unchanged after the switching. Hence, the *receiver* can "un-switch" correctly, even with *no* channel side-information.

To minimize any degradation to the guard-band, the "innermost" P null subcarriers are to be used. For the IEEE 802.11a/g standard, the number of null-subcarriers as guard-bands at low-frequency end is one more than that at high-frequency end, if P is even; the number of null-subcarriers as guard-bands at low-frequency end equals to that at high-frequency end, if P is odd.

2.5 Simulation Results

The IEEE 802.11a standard with AWGN channel model is used here as an example, even though the proposed scheme could be used with any multi-carrier system with null-subcarriers. To minimize any degradation to the guard-band, in Figure 2.2, one "innnermost" null-subcarriers (indexed as # - 27 in the IEEE 802.11a standard, giving P = 1,100000 symbols) is used at low-frequency side of the data-subcarrier bands, with L - N = 48. To minimize any degradation to the guard-band, in Figure 2.3, two "innnermost" null-subcarriers (indexed as $\# \pm 27$ in the IEEE 802.11a standard, giving P = 2,100000 symbols) are used at either side of the data-subcarrier bands, with L - N = 48.



Figure 2.2: The PAPR's CCDF at P = 1.

A memoryless nonlinear power amplifier is used. It has a "soft limiter" input-output relationship: For a complex-value input y, the output equals $\Lambda(|y|)e^{j \leq y}$, where (see Section 2.4 on page 13 of [39])

$$\Lambda(a) = \begin{cases} a, & \text{if } a \le A, \\ A, & \text{if } a > A. \end{cases}$$

The "clipping ratio" is defined as $\gamma = \frac{A}{\sqrt{P_{in}}}$ (see equation (2.16) in [39]), where P_{in} denotes the average power of the input signal, $\gamma = 2$ dB.

Figure 2.2 and 2.3 show the proposed schemes PAPR-reduction performance. Figure 2.4 and 2.5 show that the proposed scheme can improve the SER and Bit-Error-Rate







Figure 2.4: The SER versus the signal to noise ratio at A = 1.7.



Figure 2.5: The BER versus the signal to noise ratio at A = 1.7.

(BER), despite needing no CSI.

2.6 Summary

Herein proposed is a new method to reduce the peak-to-average power ratio (PAPR) of multi-carrier OFDM systems by switching null-subcarriers with data-subcarriers, which is a CSI-free pre-processing algorithm, can be compatible with most existing OFDM standards (like PTS, SLM, etc), and can complement many other PAPR-reduction algorithms.

Chapter 3

OFDM PAPR Reduction by Shifting Null Subcarriers among Data-Subcarriers

3.1 The Basic Idea of Proposed Method

Using the "innermost" null subcarriers in the guard-band for PAPR reduction is originally proposed in the "Null-Switching" method [38], presented in Chapter 2. The "Null Switching" method is to switch some data-subcarrier(s) with some "innermost" null subcarrier(s) in the guard-band, in order to change the frequency(ies) of some term(s) inputted to the IFFT operator. However, this "Null-Switching" method need very high computational complexity when the number of subcarriers is large. Here, we propose a new scheme along with "reduced-complexity" version by shifting some of the "innermost" null subcarrier(s) in the guard-band among data subcarriers to minimize the PAPR at the transmitter, possessing better SER performance and low computational complexity.

3.2 Advantages of the Proposed Method

This proposed scheme possesses the following merits:

- 1. Unlike clipping method, this proposed method does not distort the transmitted signal.
- 2. Comparing with "Null-Switching" method, it has low computational complexity and better SER or BER performance.
- 3. The proposed scheme does not affect the constellation at the data-subcarriers.
- 4. This proposed method only needs to send the indices of null-subcarriers after shifting to the receiver.
- 5. This proposed scheme could relate with other PAPR reduction strategies , such as "partial transmit sequences", "selective mapping", "tone injection", "trellis shaping".

 This proposed scheme can be compatible with existing standards, such as IEEE 802.11a/g.

3.3 The Proposed Algorithm

3.3.1 The Basic Version

Without modifying L or N, the proposed method shifts P elements $\{\tilde{g}_p, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ of the null-subcarrier set $\mathcal{N} = \{g_n, n = 1, \dots, N\}$ to the indices $\{h_{\tilde{l}_p}, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ of the subcarrier set, such that if $f_{\tilde{l}_p} < f_{\tilde{l}_{p+1}}$, then $f_{\tilde{g}_p} < f_{\tilde{g}_{p+1}}$. Meanwhile, the permutation of the data-subcarrier set remain unchanged after the shifting. The transmitter is to search the most advantageous indices for the P "innermost" null subcarrier(s) to shift to, for the greatest PAPR reduction. The optimization problem is to identify $\{h_{\tilde{l}_p}, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ to minimize the PAPR. There are altogether $\binom{L-N}{P} = \frac{(L-N)!}{P!(L-N-P)!}$ different "shifting" possibilities.

For the IEEE 802.11a/g standard, the number of null-subcarriers as guard-bands at low-frequency end is one more than that at high-frequency end, if P is even; the number of null-subcarriers as guard-bands at low-frequency end equals to that at high-frequency end, if P is odd.

This proposed scheme would require low CSI be communicated from the transmitter to the receiver. This advantage is due to these three properties: (a) the receiver has priori knowledge of the indices of data-subcarrier set; (b) only the indices of $\{h_{\tilde{l}_p}, p = 1, \dots, P\}$ is to be sent to the receiver, and 6P bits as CSI is needed to transmit for IEEE 802.11a/g standard. (c) the permutation of the data-subcarrier set remains unchanged after the shifting.

3.3.2 A Reduced-Complexity Version

A sub-optimal method:

The OFDM symbols \bar{x} are partitioned into V disjoint subblocks $\bar{x}^{(v)} \triangleq [\bar{x}_0^{(v)}...\bar{x}_{N-1}^{(v)}]$ with $\bar{x}_k^{(v)} = \bar{x}_k$ or $0, 0 \le v \le V - 1$, such that

$$\bar{x} = \sum_{v=0}^{V-1} \bar{x}^{(v)} \tag{3.1}$$

Only the subblock with the largest PAPR will undergo the basic scheme in section 3.3.1. Thus, the number of "shifting" possibilities is reduced significantly. There are altogether $\binom{(L-N)/V+P}{P} = \frac{((L-N)/V+P)!}{P!((L-N)/V)!}$ different "shifting" possibilities. With the increasing of V, the computational complexity is reduced dramatically. For example, when P = 2, V = 8, there are only 28 different "shifting" possibilities.

3.4 Simulation Results

To verify the proposed PAPR reduction technique, herein the IEEE 802.11a standard with AWGN channel model is used as an example. We consider the number of subcarriers in an OFDM system equals 64 with QPSK data symbols, where L - N = 48 is the number of data-subcarriers, and P is the number of null-subcarriers used for PAPR reduction. To minimize possible degradation to the guard-bands, we use the "innermost" null-subcarrier(s) at low-frequency edge or high-frequency edge. In order to generate the CCDF of the PAPR, 10⁵ OFDM data-blocks are generated randomly. For the "Reduced-Complexity" version, the signal block is partitioned into V = 4 subblocks, and only the subblock with the largest PAPR undergoes the proposed switching scheme. In figure 3.1 and figure 3.2, the indices of the two "innermost" null-subcarriers are -27 at the lowfrequency edge and 27 at the high-frequency edge.

A memoryless nonlinear power amplifier is used. It has a "soft limiter" input-output relationship: For a complex-value input y, the output equals $\Lambda(|y|)e^{j \leq y}$, where (see Section 2.4 on page 13 of [39])

$$\Lambda(a) = \begin{cases} a, & \text{if } a \leq A, \\ A, & \text{if } a > A. \end{cases}$$

The "clipping ratio" is defined as $\gamma = \frac{A}{\sqrt{P_{in}}}$ (see equation (2.16) in [39]), where P_{in} denotes the average power of the input signal, $\gamma = 3$ dB.



Figure 3.1: The PAPR's CCDF at P = 2.



Figure 3.2: The SER versus the signal to noise ratio at P = 2.



Figure 3.3: The PAPR's CCDF at P = 2, V = 8, QPSK modulation, 4 phase factors.

Table 3.1: Comparison of Null Switching, Null Shifting and "Reduced-Complexity" Null Shifting (P=2,V=8,IEEE 802.11a standard)

Criteria	Null Switching	Null Shifting	"Reduced-Complexity" version
PAPR reduction	High	High	Moderate - High
Distortion	No	No	No
Rate hit	No	Low	Low
CSI	No	Low	Low
SER reduction	Moderate	High	High
Computation Complexity	1128 IFFT operation	1128 IFFT operation	28 IFFT operation

Figure 3.1 illustrates that the PAPR-reduction performance of proposed method is better than that of "Null Switching" method in most cases, and that of "Reduced-Complexity" version is close to that of the basic version.

Figure 3.2 shows that the SER performance of proposed method is much superior than that of "Null Switching" method, and that of "Reduced-Complexity" version is almost same as that of the basic version.

In Figure 3.3, "Reduced-Complexity" version with 28 IFFT operations, only using 12 bits CSI, which is less than the 16 bits CSI of PTS SA method, still has better PAPR reduction performance than PTS SA method under same computational complexity.

The comparison of these three methods based on different criteria is presented in Table 3.1. And the computational complexity of proposed methods has been compared by specified values, based on same condition.

3.5 Summary

In this chapter, we propose a new scheme by reordering the null-subcarriers and datasubcarriers. This new method shifts the "innermost" null-subcarriers among different data-subcarriers at different indices to minimize the PAPR. The Reduced-Complexity version degrades the computational load by applying this idea only to the subblock with the highest PAPR. This proposed method is distortionless, does not affect the constellation at the data-subcarriers, has low computational complexity and better SER performance, can be related with most other PAPR-reduction methods, and can be compatible with existing standards.

Chapter 4

Conclusion

In Chapter 2, we propose a new method to reduce the peak-to-average power ratio (PAPR) of multi-carrier OFDM systems by switching null-subcarriers with data-subcarriers, which is a CSI-free preprocessing algorithm in frequency domain, can be compatible with most existing OFDM standards, and can complement many other PAPR-reduction algorithms.

In Chapter 3, the "Null Switching" method need very high computational complexity when the number of subcarriers is large. Although this method remove the need of CSI, the BER performance is not good enough when the signal-to-noise ratio is low. Here, we proposed a new scheme along with "Reduced-complexity" version by shifting some of the "innermost" null subcarrier(s) in the guard-band among data subcarriers to minimize the PAPR at the transmitter, possessing better SER performance and low computational complexity.

Some future work may be conducted, such as

- (1) Investigate the trade-off between the computation load, BER performance, and other criteria.
- (2) Test and modify the methods proposed in chapter 2 and chapter 3 based on other international standards, like IEEE 802.16e, IEEE 802.15, IEEE 802.20, etc.

Bibliography

- R. O'Neill & L. B. Lopes, "Envelope Variations and Spectral Splatter in Clipped Multicarrier Signals," *Proc. IEEE PIMRC '95*, Toronto, Canada, pp. 71-75, Sept. 1995.
- [2] S. H. Han & J. H. Lee, "An Overview of Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction Techniques for Multicarrier Transmission," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, pp. 56-65, April 2005.
- [3] T. Jiang & Y. Wu, "An Overview: Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction Techniques for OFDM Signals," *IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 257-268, June 2008.
- [4] C. Dick & H. Tam, "FPGA Realization of Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction Techniques for OFDM Wireless Systems," Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers, pp. 1969-1975, 2007.
- [5] R. J. Baxley & G. T. Zhou, "Comparing Selected Mapping and Partial Transmit Sequence for PAR Reduction," *IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 797-803, December 2007.
- [6] C.-C. Feng, Y.-T. Wu & C.-Y. Chi, "Embedding and Detection of Side Information for Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction of an OFDM Signal Using Partial Transmit Se- quences," *IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, vol. 2, pp. 1354-1358, Fall 2003.
- [7] A.D.S.Jayalath & C.Tellambura, "Side Information in PAR Reduced PTS-OFDM Sig- nals," *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio* Communication Processings, pp. 226-230, 2003.
- [8] S. H. Muller & J. B. Huber, "A Novel Peak Power Reduction Scheme for OFDM," *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, vol. 3, pp. 1090-1094, 1997.
- [9] S. H. Muller-Weinfurtner, OFDM for Wireless Communications: Nyquist Windowing, Peak-Power Reduction, and Synchronization, Aachen, Germany: Shaker Verlag, 2000.

- [10] L. J. Cimini, Jr. & N. R. Sollenberger, "Peak-to-Average Power Ratio Reduction of an OFDM Signal Using Partial Transmit Sequences With Embedded Side Information," *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, pp.746-750, 2000.
- [11] A. D. S. Jayalath & C. Tellambura, "SLM and PTS Peak-Power Reduction of OFDM SignalsWithout Side Information," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol.4, no. 5, pp. 2006-2013, September 2005.
- [12] H. G. Ryu, J.E. Lee & J.S. Park, "Dummy Sequence Insertion (DSI) for PAPR Reduction in the OFDM Communication System," *IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics*, vol. 50, no 1, pp.89-94, Feb 2004.
- [13] C.T. Lam, D.D. Falconer & F. Danilo-Lemoine, "PAPR Reduction Using Frequency Domain Multiplexed Pilot Sequences," Proc. Wireless Communications and Networking Conference 2007, WCNC 2007, Hong Kong, pp. 1428-1432, Mar 2007.
- [14] A.E. Jones, T.A. Wilkinson & S.K. Barton, "Block Coding Scheme for Reduction of Peak to Mean Envelope Power Ratio of Multicarrier Transmission Scheme," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 30, no 22, pp. 2098-2099, Dec 1994.
- [15] D. Van Welden & H. Steendam, "Clipping Versus Symbol Switching for PAPR Reduction in Coded OFDM," Symposium on Communications and Vehicular Technology in the Benelux, SCVT08, Antwerp, Belgium, Nov 13, 2008.
- [16] J. Tellado, Peak to Average Power Reduction for Multicarrier Modulation, Ph.D dissertation, Stanford University, 2000.
- [17] A. Alavi, C. Tellambura & I. Fair, "PAPR Reduction of OFDM Signals Using Partial Transmit Sequence: An Optimal Approach Using Sphere Decoding," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 9, no. 11, pp. 982-984, November 2005.
- [18] T. Giannopoulos & V. Paliouras, "A Low-Complexity PTS-based PAPR Reduction Tech- nique for OFDM Signals without Transmission of Side Information," *Journal* of Signal Processing Systems, vol. 56, no. 2-3, pp. 141-153, September 2009.
- [19] T. Fujii & M. Nakagawa, "Weighting Factor Estimation Methods for Partial Transmit Sequences OFDM to Reduce Peak Power," *IEICE Transactions on Communications*, vol.E85-B, no. 1, pp. 221-230, January 2002.
- [20] C. Liu, E. Skafidas, T. Walsh & R. J. Evans, "A Survey on OFDM PAPR Reduction Techniques for 60 GHz Wireless CMOS Radio," Australasian Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference, pp. 317-324, 2007.
- [21] J. Armstrong, "Peak-to-Average Power Reduction for OFDM by Repeated Clipping and Frequency Domain Filtering," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 246-247, Feb. 2002.

- [22] X. Li & L. J. Cimini, "Effect of Clipping and Filtering on the Performance of OFDM," *IEEE Communication Letter*, vol. 2, no. 5, May 1998, pp. 131-133.
- [23] R. W. Bauml, R. F. H. Fisher, & J. B. Huber, "Reducing the Peak-to-Average Power Ratio of Multicarrier Modulation by Selected Mapping," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 32, no. 22, Oct. 1996, pp. 2056-2057.
- [24] S. H. Muller & J. B. Huber, "A Comparison of Peak Power Reduction Schemes for OFDM," Proc. IEEE GLOBECOM '97, Phoenix, AZ, Nov. 1997, pp. 1-5.
- [25] S.H. Muller & J.B. Huber, "A comparison of peak power reduction schemes for OFDM," *Global Telecommunications Conference*, GLOBECOM '97., Phoenix, USA , Nov 1997.
- [26] S. H. Muller & J. B. Huber, "OFDM with Reduced Peak-to-Average Power Ratio by Optimum Combination of Partial Transmit Sequences," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 33, no. 5, Feb. 1997, pp. 368-369.
- [27] S. H. Muller & J. B. Huber, "A Novel Peak Power Reduction Scheme for OFDM," Proc. IEEE PIMRC '97, Helsinki, Finland, Sept. 1997, pp. 1090-1094.
- [28] G. R. Hill, M. Faulkner & J. Singh, "Reducing the Peak-to-Average Power Ratio in OFDM by Cyclically Shifting Partial Transmit Sequences," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 36, no. 6, Mar. 2000, pp. 560-561.
- [29] P. Van Eetvelt, G. Wade & M. Tomlinson, "Peak to Average Power Reduction for OFDM Schemes by Selective Scrambling," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 32, no. 21, Oct. 1996, pp. 1963-1964.
- [30] A. D. S. Jayalath & C. Tellambura, "Reducing the Peakto- Average Power Ratio of Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing Signal through Bit or Symbol Interleaving," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 36, no. 13, June 2000, pp. 1161-1163.
- [31] B. S. Krongold & D. L. Jones, "PAR Reduction in OFDM via Active Constellation Extension," *IEEE Transaction on Broadcasting*, vol. 49, no. 3, Sept. 2003, pp. 258-268.
- [32] M. Golay, "Complementary Series," *IEEE Transaction on Information Theory*, vol. 7, no. 2, Apr. 1961, pp. 82-87.
- [33] X. Li, F.Y. Li, B.W. Ji, D.C. Yao & Z.D. Zhong, "A Low-complex Virtual subcarrier Reservation Algorithm for PAPR Reduction," *IEEE International Conference* on Wireless communications, networking and mobile computing, pp. 1366-1369, 2009.
- [34] S. G. Kang, J. G. Kim & E. K. Joo, "A Novel Subblock Partition Scheme for Partial Transmit Sequence OFDM," *IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 333-338, September 1999.

- [35] A. D. S. Jayalath, C. Tellambura & H. Wu, "Reduced complexity PTS and new phase sequences for SLM to reduce PAP of an OFDM signal," *IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC 2000, pp. 1914-1917, May 2000.
- [36] A. D. S. Jayalath, "Adaptive PTS Approach for Reduction of Peak-to-Average Power Ratio of OFDM Signal," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 36, no. 14, pp. 1226-1228, July 6, 2000.
- [37] C. Tellambura, "Phase Optimisation Criterion for Reducing Peak-to-Average Power Ratio in OFDM," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 169-170, January 22, 1998.
- [38] K.T. Wong, Bo. Wang & J.C. Chen, "OFDM PAPR Reduction by Switching Null Subcarriers & Data-Subcarriers," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 62-63, January 6, 2011.
- [39] S. Litsyn, Peak Power Control in Multicarrier Communications, Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press, 2007.